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YOUTH VIOLENCE: A COMMUNITY RESPONSE

TUESDAY, JUNE 1, 1993

U.S. SENATE,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE,
COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY,
Phoenix, AZ.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:05 a.m., at Phoe-
nix College, 1202 W. Thomas Road, Phoenix, AZ, the Houorable
Dennis DeConcini presiding.

Senator DeConcini. This hearing this morning is sponsored by
the Senate Judiciary Committee’s Subcommittee on Juvenile Jus-
tice, and I am very pleased and thank you all for being here. I will
go into an opening statement in just a moment, but I wanted to let
}he press ask some questions, if they want to, and if they do not,
ine.

The purpose of this hearing is to solicit not only what the prob-
lem is, which many of us know, but to also raise the awareness of
the problem of gangs and violence and use of firearms by young
people in our own communities, and also to listen to what works
and perhaps what has not worked, and to attempt to see what can
be done not only on the local level, but what could be translated
into Washington, DC, as to assistance.

This is an epidemic, in my judgment. One out of five high school
students now carries either a firearm, a club or a knife to school,
and we have 3 million crimes of violence occurring in schools
today, and that is one every 8 seconds, somebody has calculated.
No longer are our schools a safe haven; they are a dangerous place
for our children to attend. The big question is, why has this moved
to our schools and what can the communities do about them?

We have some excellent programs here which we are going to
talk about today, and one of them is right here at Phoenix College,
the Genesis, which I plan to visit this afternoon. I welcome the
press, if they want to come to that, and I am sure they would set
upd interviews and tours any other time, if you cannot make it
today.

It is an outstanding program, and there are many more. Plus the
community support here of Mothers Against Gangs and other orga-
nizations who have come forward to attempt to cleanse their neigh-
borhood of this awful tragedy that is occurring, is of interest to us
in Washington, DC, because this is the heart of what is going on.
The solution I do not think is in Washington, DC. I think it is right
here, and that is what I anticipate uncovering this morning, as we
go through these hearings.

@
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I am not here to talk a lot. I am here to listen, and I am not
going to lay back when it is over, if there are things that Washing-
ton can be involved in to encourage these programs. So I hope to be
able to translate—we have got some violence right here. Are you
all right? [Laughter.]

I am sure this college is well insured. With that, I will just open
it up to the press, if they have any questions, and then we will take
just a minute or 2 break and start with our panels.

QUESTION. Senator, is the condition in Phoenix as serious as in
other cities, or is it about the same level, considering we have got a
million people in the city? What is the comparison of Phoenix’s
crime problem with other major citios on the juvenile level?

Senator DeConcini. I do not know the answer to that, quite
frankly. From what I have heard, jalking to our law enforcement
officials, it ranks very high. How high that is, I cannot tell you it is
10th or 11th or what have you, but it ranks very high, but I do not
have that. I know the use of drugs in Arizona is one of the highest.
The abuse of drugs and the use of firearms is also high, but I
cannot give you that. I would be glad to find that out, and we may
find it out today.

QuEsTioN. Can I do a followup with you?

Senator DeConcini. Of course.

QuEsTION. Is that because Arizona is a border State and preva-
lent to drug trafficking? Is that one of the reasons?

Senator DeConNciNt. A lot of it has to do with that. We have a
tremendous amount of drugs coming through our borders, mostly
on the ground now, and the confiscations are up over 400 percent
just by the Border Patrol over 2 years ago. The drugs are still
coming in. Mexico is becoming more of a problem, because the Co-
lombia cartel has truly moved into that country and set up busi-
nesses and warehouses. We are working with that gevernment, and
I must encourage that government and will on the floor of the
Senate later next week, to do more about it. It is really getting out
of hand.

Anybody else? Yes?

QuEstioN. Can there be with the NRA——

Senator DEConciNI. Are you with the press?

QuEesTioN. Yes, With NRA and school education, could they join
’}cloget}%er to teach the students about guns and why they are a

arm?

Senator DeConcivi. Well, I sure hope so, and that is one of their
national programs and we will hear from the president of that or-
ganization today. We have some differences of opinion on the ban-
ning of some assault weapons that are showing up in our schools
and being used. But I think you will hear from the NRA that one
of their positive approaches is education and they are promoting
that not just in schools, but in the general public, and they do
spend some resources and some effort to do that.

Anybody else? Yes?

QUESTION. Senator, one of the questions I would like to ask, are
they going to do anything in the area where there are gangs in the
area where they have no activity and no recreation?

Senator DeConcint. Of course, 1 think we will hear from wit-
nesses today that will indicate that is the problem, one of the prob-
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lems. Having been in South Phoenix a number of times, in my
home town of South Tucson, there are a limited number of areas
for recreation. As a matter of fact, the job stimulus program that
was defeated would have built a large swimming pool in South
Tucson, right in the heart of where the biggest gang problem is,
and it was termed a pork barrel project and the whole thing was
defeated. That would have been open this August. I cannot think of
any better investment than to have those kinds of facilities avail-
able, so young people can go some place other than pal around
withltheir gangs and covet territory and also destroy property and
people.

QUESTION. Are you holding these hearings in other cities?

Senator DeConcini. Yes, we will be holding a hearing tomorrow
at Tucson, the same subject matter, and we will have a roundtable
discussion tonight with community leaders in Tucson.

QuEsTioN. Do you support local curfews for juveniles?

Senator DeConcini. No, I do not think that is necessary, al-
though I would be certainly open to that. In my judgment, that
ought to be a local decision and certainly not a national decision to
impose that on communities. I would welcome hearing from our
mayors that are here today and other public officials as to whether
or not that is a realistic alternative.

Anybody else in the press? Yes, sir?

QuEsTION. Good morning, Senator. How are you? Good to see
you, first off. There are some people who might say that the prob-
lem of youth violence may be cyclical, from the standpoint that
they come from an environment where their parents do not have a
grip on putting together a proper household. What would you say
to someone who would propose programs that would help families
with parenting skills and help them out of impoverished situations
and help them get back into school? Would you be agreeable to——

Senator DeConcin. Of course we would, and there are some pro-
grams. As a matter of fact, Head Start has a part of that program

- that deals with the parents, as well as taking the children off the

streets after school and preschool. Those are the kinds of programs
that the Federal Government can and should be involved in.

There may be programs like the Genesis program here that the
Federal Government ought to be involved in, if we can find the re-
sources. I think I can find the resources, without a big problem, be-
cause I know where some of the waste and where the excess ex-
penditures are, but that has not come about yet. I hope it will.

QUESTION. A case in point being that the very problems you have
with children having children, which led me to bring that point up,
you have a lot of teens out there having babies and really not
having the tools to teach their own kids.

Senator DEConcinI, I am glad you raised that, because I plan to
hold some roundtable discussions that I am going to hear in Phoe-
nix, as I get around the valley, and I am going to do so in Tucson
tonight, to listen to community leaders and neighborhood parents
who want to talk about what the problems are and what could be
helpful, without hundreds of millions of dollars of assistance, and
what can work. And I think your suggestion about parenting and
helping the people who have to deal with this on a day-to-day basis
is very appropriate.
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Thank you very much, everyone.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DENNIS DeCONCINI, A4 U.S.
SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF ARIZONA

Senator DECoNcini. The hearing is officially coming to order.
The Juvenile Justice subcommittee of the Senate Judiciary Com-
mittee is here to gather information in Phoenix, tc find and hear
about solutions to one of the most disturbing issues in this country,
and that is youth violence. Our children are growing up in an envi-
ronment dominated by violence which pervades their lives. It is in
their homes, their schools and their playgrounds. There seems to
be no escape. Look at what you are watching on TV tonight, except
prior or after the game.

By the time the average child graduates from elementary school,
he or she will have witnessed 8,000 murders and more than 100,000
other assorted acts of violence on television. The schools are no
better. As I pointed out, one out of every five high school students
now carry a firearm, knife or club to school on a regular basis, and
nearly 3 million crimes occur on or near schcol campuses.

We have reached a point where metal detectors are standard in
many schools. The streets are even worse. The violence that is glo-
rified on TV is now day-to-day reality. Just read the papers—gangs,
drugs and random murders have become the staple of our chil-
dren’s lives. Every major city in this country is facing a deadly
gang problem. It is the subculture that has kidnapped our chil-
dren’s generation. Dispute resolutions involve guns today, and
drive-by shootings with teenagers brandishing assault weapons are
all too common an occurrence.

We can no longer accept the violence. Kids are afraid, teachers
are afraid, parents are afraid. I think everybody is afraid. It is time
to get to the root of the problem. We have a very serious problem
that does not have one single solution.

But to go forward with a plan of action, we have to ask ques-
tions, as a society, some very fundamental questions. For example,
how did we get here, what are we doing now, and what works and
what does not work, and where do we go from here. I hope to have
some answers to these questions today. This is a complex issue,
with no quick easy solution. It is a problem that deserves the
utmost attention and the greatest dedication, and we each have a
role in this effort—law enforcement, legislators, courts, community
leaders, local government and, most importaatly, the parents.

I look forward to hearing today’s testimony. We have a wide
array of witnesses from all over. I want to thank them in advance
for being here. I came here to listen, and when we finish, I intend
to hopefully take sonie of this back to Washington to see what can
be done from the Federal Government to assist.

[The prepared statement of Senator DeConcini follows:]




STATEMENT OF SENATOR DENNIS DeCONCINI

THE HEARING WILL COME TO ORDER. THE JUVENILE JUSTICE
SUBCOMMITTEE HAS COME TO PHOENIX TO GATHER INFORMATION AND HEAR
SOLUTIONS TO ONE OF THE MOST DISTURBING ISSUES IN THIS COUNTRY
TODAY -- YOUTH VIOLENCE.

OUR CHILDREN ARE GROWING UP IN AN ENVIRONMENT DOMINATED BY
VIOLENCE. IT PERVADES THEIR LIVES -- IT’S IN THEIR HOMES, THEIR
SCHOOLS, AND THEIR PLAYGROUNDS.

THERE IS NO ESCAPING IT. LOOX WHAT 'THEY ARE WATCHING ON

BY THE TIME THE AVERAGE CHILD GRADUATES FROM ELEMENTARY
SCHOOL, SHE OR HE WILL HAVE WITNESSED 8,000 MURDERS AND MORE THAN
100,000 OTHER ASSORTED ACTS OF VIOLENCE ON TELEVISION.

THE SCHOOLS_ ARE NO BETTER.

ABOUT ONE OUT OF EVERY 5 HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS NOW CARRIES A
FIREARM, KNIFE OR CLUB TO SCHOOL ON A REGULAR BASIS. AND THE
RESULT? -~ NEARLY 3 MILLION CRIMES OCCUR ON OR NEAR SCHOOL
CAMPUSES EACH YEAR «- THAT IS ONE EVERY 6 SECONDS!

WE HAVE REACHED A POINT WHERE METAIL, DETECTORS ARE STANDARD
WARE IN OUR SCHOOLS.

THE_STREETS ARE WORSE ~- THE VIOLENCE THAT IS GLORIFIED ON
T.V. IS NOW A DAY-TO-DAY REALITY FOR CHILDREN.

JUST READ THE PAPER EVERY MORNING.

GANGS, 'DRUGS AND RANDOM MURDERS HAVE BECOME THE STAPLES OF
OUR CHILDREN’S LIVES. EVERY MAJOR CITY IN THIS COUNTRY IS FACING
A DEADLY GANG PROBLEM. IT IS A SUBCULTURE THAT HAS KIDNAPPED OUR
CHILDREN'S GENERATION. DISPUTE RESOLUTION INVOLVES A GUN. AND
DRIVE-BY SHOOTINGS, WITH TEENAGERS BRANDISHING ASSAULT WEAPONS,
ARE AN ALL-TOO-COMMON OCCURRENCE.

WE CAN NO LONGER ACCEPT THIS VIOLENCE AS PART OF OUR
CULTURE.




KIDS ARE AFRAID. TEACHERS ARE AFRAID. PARENTS ARE AFRAID.

IT IS TIME TO GET AT THE ROOT OF THIS DEADLY VIOLENCE.

WE HAVE A VERY SERIOUS PROBLEM THAT DOES NOT HAVE ONLY ONE
SOLUTION. BUT TO GO FORWARD WITH A PLAN~OF-ACTION, WE HAVE TO
ASK OURSELVES, AS A SOCIETY, SOME VERY FUNDAMENTAL QUESTIONS.
FOR EXBMPLE:

HOW DID WE GET HERE?

WHAT ARE WE DOING NOW?

WHAT WORKS AND WHAT DOESN’T?

WHERE DO WE GO FROM HERE?

I HOPE TO HAVE. SOME ANSWERS TO THESE QUESTIONS, TODAY. FOR
THIS IS A COMPLEX ISSUE -- WITH NO EASY OR QUICK SOLUTIONS.

IT IS A PROBLEM THAT DESERVES THE UTMOST ATTENTION AND THE
GREATEST DEDICATION. AND WE EACH HAVE A ROLE IN THIS EFFORT --
LAW ENFORCEMENT, LEGISLATORS, COURTS, COMMUNITY LEADERS, AND MOST
IMPORTANTLY, PARENTS.

I LOOK FORWARD TQO HEARING TODAY'S TESTIMONY. WE HAVE A WIDE
ARRAY OF WITNESSES FROM ALL WALKS OF LIFE.

I CAME HERE TO LISTEN AND TO LEARN. BUT AFTER WE FINISH
TODAY, I DO NOT INTEND TO SIT BACK AND WATCH. THIS PROBLEM CAN
NOT CONTINUE TO GROW OUT-OF-~CONTROL.

O
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Our first panel is composed of Mary Rose Wilcox, who is a
member of the board of supervisors of Maricopa County, and before
that a city councilwoman, and a very active community leader.

Mayor Coy Payne, mayor of Chandler. This city has been plagued
with the problem of youth violence, and Chandler was one of the
cities that recently passed an ordinance to prohibit juveniles from
carrying guns. My congratulations, Mayor Payne.

Mayor Harry Mitchell, the mayor of Tempe, has also passed an
ordinance prohibiting juveniles from carrying handguns. Mayor
Mitchell also provided a different perspective, in that he is also a
former high school teacher with first-hand knowledge.

Chief Justice Stanley Feldman is the chief justice of the Supreme
Court of Arizona. One of the reasons we asked Chief Justice Feld-
man to testify today is because he has recently empaneled an advi-
sory committee known as the Commission on Juvenile Justice in
Arizona. The committee will evaluate the juvenile justice system,
assess the problems confronting it, and recommend improvements.

And County Attorney Richard Romley, of Maricopa County, as
the County Attorney, has been very active on the issues of juvenile
justice.

We welcome you all. We have some time constraints here and 1
am going to ask that Chief Justice Feldman go first.

Judge Feldman?

PANEL CONSISTING OF THE HONORABLE STANLEY G. FELDMAN,
CHIEF JUSTICE, ARIZONA SUPREME COURT; COY C. PAYNE,
MAYOR, CHANDLER, AZ; MARY ROSE WILCOX, SUPERVISOR,
MARICOPA COUNTY, AZ; RICHARD ROMLEY, COUNTY ATTOR-
NEY, MARICOPA COUNTY, AZ; AND HARRY E. MITCHELL,
MAYOR, TEMPE, AZ

STATEMENT OF HON. STANLEY G. FELDMAN

Justice FELbmAN. Thank you, Senator.

I did not come to make a speech, so I will not. I do have a few
remarks on a preliminary basis, if I may. I am not an expert on the
causes of juvenile crime, nor is it within my field of supervision, so
to speak. I am charged under the Arizona Constitution with admin-
istrative supervision over all courts of the State, and that, of
course, includes juvenile courts, and the juvenile courts or juvenile
justice system are an integral part of this problem and, hopefully, a
part of solving the problem.

From our perspective, we see three phenomena, if I may use the
term, an ever-increasing number of crimes, an ever-increasing
number of significantly serious crimes and violent crimes, and
ever-decreasing age of those who are getting involved in the juve-
nile criminal justice system, and an ever-increasing number of
weapons being used. You have referred to all of this in your open-
ing remarks, so I will not go into it any further.

Our problem is when these children get into the juvenile justice
system, our problem is what to do with them and how to do it. We
have had over the years a lot of success. You know, it is easy to
look at how bad the problem is and never realize that we have had
a great deal of success to the extent of 80 or 85 percent of the chil-
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dren who get into the system have one or two contacts and they
have no further contacts with the system.

But the other 20 percent, the other 15 or 20 percent of the chil-
dren who are repetitive offenders and who get into increasingly
more violent and more significant crimes are our real problem, and
what to do with them is part of our problem in the court system,
especially from the standpoint of having administrative supervision
over the courts.

One of the things that afflicts us is finger-pointing, if I may use
that term, and I assure you, Senator, there is enough fault and
enough blame to go around to every segment of society. In my
view, it is time to stop pointing fingers at each other and to sit
down with each other and to try and find the common solution or
the common approach to these problems.

It is for that reason that I have today signed the order appoint-
ing the Commission on Juvenile Justice of Arizona, and it is for
that reason that, when I name the membership to that committee,
which I plan to do either later this week or early next week, I will
include on that membership list people form every viewpoint,
people from all parts of the system and try and get everybody to sit
ilown and see if we can find some way to better address the prob-

ems.

From my perspective and conclusion, the problems simply boil
down to this: We have more and more kids coming into the system.
We have on the one hand the necessity of finding a way to address
their problems, to treat them, to hope for education, to hope for re-
habilitation, to hope for intervention that will change the path
which they have taken.

We have, on the other hand, the problem with those for whom
nothing seems to work. We have a large number of kids, unfortu-
nately, a growing number of kids—I think Mr. Romley will attest
to this—for whom nothing has worked. These children present seri-
ous dangers and serious risks to society. Until we can find some
way to stop what they are doing, we have to put them in a place
where they no longer pose that kind of risk to society.

When we have them out of harm’s way and out of the way of
doing harm to society, we have to find something to do with them
other than simply warehousing them and eventually turning them
loose, whether it be 17-year-olds, 18-year-olds or keep them until
they are 25, turn them loose and just go on to a bigger and better
life of crime. We simply, on humanitarian and on economic
grounds, cannot afford to keep them behind bars for the rest of
their lives, not when it costs $17,000 to $20,000 a year to keep a
person in prison.

So, in summary, we have got to find a way to identify those for
whom treatment and rehabilitation stand some chance and to give
themn what they need. The day of not being willing to spend $1,000
on drug counseling and substance abuse counseling for a kid, but
being willing to spent $17,000 a year to keep them in prison for 10
years and then turn them loose with the same substance abuse
problem, those days have got to stop. It makes no sense. It is just
economically foolish and it is harmful to society.

We also have to find a way in Arizona to stop the revolving door.
We have to find a way where those children whom the juvenile
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judges have found no longer amenable to treatment and children
who pose a risk of harm to society, because of their violent habits,
those children have got to be put away and kept way until they
either change or we keep them, if they will not change.

But we have got to put them away and we have got to end the
system that we now have of having no space for them, where—
again, as I think Mr. Romley will agree—you can send the most
dangerous person that we have in the juvenile justice system and
there is not room for them, the Department of Youth Training and

“Rehabilitation, and they get out. I cannot fault the administration,
because there is no place to put them. They get out in 60 days or 90
days. We are not doing anything for a violent child in 60 or 90 days
at the Department of Youth Training and Rehabilitation. So we
are going to have to spend the money, both to secure beds and for
programs in that institution or in that system.

So what I am saying, I think in the final analysis, Senator, is
that nobody I think has the whole answer to this, and we have to
stop pretending that any one segment of this system knows all of
the answers and has all of the answers to the problem. We have
got to get together, the treatment people, the secure people, and
get together and find how we can mesh these problem, and finding
a way to do that is the reason that I have appointed this commis-
sion.

Thank you.

Senator DECoNciNi. Thank you, Judge.

You were recently quoted as saying that we have juveniles, but
we do not dispense the justice. I think the Arizona Republic quoted
you on that. Is that what you are referring to, that we do not have
programs? Is that the justice that we are lacking?

Justice FELDMAN. Let me explain what I meant. I was not criti-
cizing the judges and their handling of individual cases. They do
the best they can. Sometimes they make mistakes, and one likes to
thinlk that the great, great majority of cases are adjudicated cor-
rectly. -

So it is not the individual cases that I am talking about. I am
talking about justice to society on the one hand, the taxpayers of
this State who are threatened continually by having kids on the
street who do not belong on the street.

I am talking about justice to the juveniles who are in the system
who are not many times in many places getting the kind of reha-
bilitation help, training and education and recreational help that
they need. The juvenile justice system is more than just adjudicat-
ing the individual case of State v. Jones. It is trying on the one
hand to take care of children, help children, prevent them from
getting into more serious trouble, and, on the other hand, equally
as important, protecting society from children who are a danger to
society. We are not doing those things.

I will give you just one anecdotal example. About 8 months ago—
I will not identify the county—I was visiting on my rounds of coun-
ties and I talked to a juvenile judge of one of our rural counties. He
had almost 90 children on one type of program or another, who
had been adjudicated as juvenile delinquents and who were either
substance abusers or emotionally disturbed or, for the most part,
both. I asked what he was doing with those 90 children.
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Well, the answer was he was having one psychologist in one
afternoon every other Friday for 90 children. I said why are you
bothering? He said I have got to cover my tracks as best I can, that
is all the money I have, that is all the resources I have. In the
meantime, I said where are these kids? He said, well, we have tried
to put them back in the families, but the families are the cause of
the trouble lots of time. So he said, basically, they are on the
street, stealing cars, stealing radios, doing whatever.

W(j,c just cannot go on doing this, Senator. That is not justice to
society.

Senator DeConcinI. Judge, a couple of quick questions. When
will the commission report be forthcoming? Is there a date?

Justice FELDMAN. I am going to ask them to have their report
done by the end of this year.

Senator DEConcINT. And that will be made available outside the
court system?

Justice FELbMAN. Well, it is going to be made available to the
courts, to the legislature, and to the governor’s office. I hope to
have all three branches of government cooperating and I hope to
get, and expect to get and think I will, help from the prosecutorial
agencies, help from all branches of the juvenile justice system:.

Senator DeCowcinI. Judge, it may be premature, because the
report certainly will have a lot to do with this, but you talk about
the juveniles that have to be put away, and we know there are
some. Is there merit in treating some of them as adults, so that
they can be put away? That is one of the big cries you hear, when
you see a violent crime by a juvenile, treat them as an adult, and 1
know the court has the authority to do that in certain cases. Do
you have an opinion?

Justice FELDMAN. Sure, I have an opinion. Some of them need to
be treated as an adult, and I reviewed the statistics recently about
the transfers from juvenile prosecutions, so to speak, to adult pros-
ecutions. Surprisingly—and I say surprisingly, because there has
been a lot of speculation about it—surprisingly, I think those statis-
tics will show that most of the children who need to be prosecuted
as adults are being prosecuted as adults. There are probably some
that we have made mistakes on, and there will be others in the
future, no matter how many commissions I have, no question about
that, because it is as very delicate subjective decision.

But the problem to me is not should we treat them as adults or
should we treat them as hoodlums. It does not make a lot of differ-
ence, Senator, if you have a 14-year-old and you prosecute them in
this courtroom which has a label on it that says juvenile court, or
in this courtroom which has as label located on a different street in
the same city and has a label adult court. The question is what you
are going to do with them after you prosecute them.

Senator DeConciNi. Of course, but I thought your point was that
if they are treated as juveniles, there is no place for them. Maybe
there is no place for them as adults, either, but there are long-term
prisons more than there are long-term juvenile centers.

Justice FELDMAN. We have very few, and for females we have
none. We have very few facilities in this State for handling chil-
dren 14-, 15-, 16-year-olds who have been prosecuted and sentenced
as adults. There is literally, with girls, there is no place to put
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them, none, no place in Arizona, unless you are going to mix them
in the general prison population, which will present terrible prob-
lems down the road when they get out.

And as far as males, the facilities are generously described as
very limited. So the question is, if you are going to treat them as
adults——

Senator DeConcinI. So if you treat them as adults and convict
Eherg, you do not go into the main population of the prison popula-
ion?

Justice FELDMAN. Senator, you have been a county attorney and
I do not need to explain to you about putting a 14- or 15-year-old in
with the general prison population.

Senator DeEConNcinI. And that is why you cannot draw that con-
clusion, that if you treat them as adults, they are going to go to
Florence or some adult prison.

Justice FELDMAN. If you treat them as adults and prosecute them
as adults, then (a) if you are going to incarcerate them, put them in
prison afterwards, what are you going to do them when they are
prison, (b) a lot of them will be on probation simply because there
is really no good place to put them in prison.

If you treat them as adults, you have all of the problems that we
have with the adult prison population, and, God knows, we do not
do a very good job with that. So the problem with kids is not which
courtroom, but what you do with them when you have them, and
that is where we are falling down.

Senator DeConcini. Have you expressed any view, Judge, or
maybe you are going to wait for the commission, on drug treatment
and counseling on demand, where anybody would be entitled to it
certainly that is in the system?

Justice FELpMAN. I do not have enough background in that to
really give you an answer that I would feel comfortable with.

Senator DECoNciNI. It is very expensive and the Federal Govern-
ment has been looking at it for a couple of years. You know, we are
building a space station and B-2 bombers, and we cannot seem to
deal with the drug problem by making treatment available. We
know in this community and in our home towns, yours and mine in
Tucson, there are some very good programs, but there’s a 6 month
or a year waiting period to get into them.

Justice FELDMAN. Well, I think—and now I am just talking as
any citizen who reads the newspapers and has friends who have
had problems or had children who have had problems—I think
there are some programs that have had some success, quite a bit of
success. There is not only a waiting list to get into them, but, un-
fortunately, many of them have closed down for lack of available
funds to pay the bills.

Again, we come back to it and it seems this society is willing to
spend $15,000 to $20,000 a year to keep a substance abuser in
prison for 5 or 10 years and then send them out as a substance
abuser, but not willing to spend $1,000 a year to see if we can inter-
vene and get him or her off of the substance that they are abusing.
How successful those programs are, I do not know, but it sure is
worth a chanece, in my mind.

Senator DeConcinI. Judge Feldman, thank you very much for
taking the time.
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Justice FELDMAN. Thank you.

Senator DEConcini. We look forward to your commission report,
and we appreciate your time. I know you have to get back to the
court.

Mayor Payne, I understand you have another pressing engage-
ment, as I am sure the other members do, too, but we will hear
from you at this time, Mayor.

STATEMENT OF MAYOR PAYNE

Mayor PayNE. Thank you, Senator.

I am really pleased to be here this morning to testify on behalf of
the City of Chandler. You know, we have got to a point in the City
of Chandler where a neighborhood that I grew up in was really a
little bit fearful when I went into that community, because of what
was going on as far as violent crime is concerned.

Because of that, we started to discuss what we might do as a
body of elected officials, the mayor and city council of the city, to
curtail some of the violent activity that was going on in the com-
munity.

One of the things that came to our attention real early in our
discussion was an ordinance that would perhaps prohibit young
people from carrying firearms. We also had looked at other cities
in the area; Glendale, Scottsdale, Phoenix, Tempe, that have ordi-
nances on the books that prohibited you from carrying firearms.

We looked at those and then we decided that this would probably
be the best method for Chandler to use, because we wanted to be in
sync with the other communities in the metro area, as well as we
wanted to send a message to those who were perpetrators of violent
crime that Chandler was not going to be sitting out there alone
and not having anything to do with what was going on and ignor-
ing the possibility of crime coming to the City of Chandler.

We as the counsel enacted an ordinance, after looking at it for a
3-year period of time. From 1989 to 1992, the total number of juve-
niles referred to juvenile court on a variety of charges increased
from 1,355 to 1,526. This was an increase of 12 percent, and that
was appalling as far as we were concerned.

During the same time period, the number of juveniles arrested
for illegal possession of firearms increased from 12 to 22, an in-
crease of 87 percent. Possession of firearms was becoming more
common, especially amongst street gang members. Now, a lot of
these are want-to-be gang members, but at that time we were class-
ing them as gang members, just the same.

The juvenile gun ordinance was adopted to help the police seize
these weapons, when other law enforcement could not doc so or
where other firearm ordinances did not apply. In doing this, we
were able to say to the community that, yes, we are aware of what
is going on in the community as far as violent crime is concerned
as it relates to the possession of firearms, and we created this ordi-
nance. It is nothing more than other cities have done, but some-
thing to say or sent the message that Chandler was not going to sit
idly by and watch the firearms proliferate in our community.

We also had the support of our school districts, very much so,
and like Mayor Mitchell of Tempe, I am a product of the Cooper
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School system. I spent my professional life in education. I taught
for 15 years and also was in administration for 15 years, and I was
at a junior high school and my last assignment was at a junior
high school. Being the vice principal of a junior high school, I was
in charge of discipline, and discipline entailed dealing with young-
sters who had problems as far as crime and other areas that they
were involved in as far as being outside the law. So I have a pretty
good knowledge of what goes in our community as far as youth are
concerned.

We have some programs in our community as far as the city is
concerned that have been really targeting the youth who fall out-
side of the law. We use some of our CBDG funding moneys to
really create programs, to help prevent youngsters from falling
through the so-called cracks and getting involved in crime.

One of the things that we have done is a summer school program
that we have. It is called Kids at Risk Program, where it is a 3-way

- funded program, the private sector, public sector and the school

district. Of course, these are all in the city, working together to
provide funding for this program so that youngsters who are out of
school, say, June 2nd, June 3rd, they have a place to go and they
don’t have an opportunity to regress from what they had learned
the prior year through the summer.

This program has worked very well for us. We have young people
today, as a result of that program, who stay in school longer, when
we look at the high school dropout rate that we had prior to work-
ing in this kind of a program, it has diminished, so we look at it as
a success.

Let me say this, Senator: I believe in prevention and interven-
tion-type programs. I do not like to see us wait until the youngster
has gotten involved—and, believe you me, and I think you probably
know and all us probably know that young people today are access-
ing the court system at a younger age. They get into problems ear-
lier in life, and we need to do something on a preventive basis.

So we have tried to involve the families of the youngsters who
are prone to get into juvenile delinquency problems. In so doing,
we have used some community block grant funds to look at our
housing program in the City of Chandler, and through the housing
program, the public housing preogram, we have set aside some
funds to set up centers where youngsters can be involved in the
evenings, after school, they can also have some time in mornings or
on the weekends.

The Boys and Girls Club in the City of Chandler is an agency
that is really working and doing wonders, as far as helping those
youngsters to relate to the community in a more positive way. So
we are continuing to do those kinds of things.

But the gun ordinance that we have certainly is a help to us, be-
cause it puts the responsibility where I think it ought to be, and
that is on the backs of the parents. Youngsters cannot carry a gun
in the City of Chandler without parental permission. This parental
permission has to be a signed note indicating that the parent is
consenting that that youngster has the weapon. It is a notarized
signature saying that the parent is no coerced, cannot be coerced
into signing it, so that we circumvent the youngster getting a gun
in his hand without the knowledge of the parent. I think this is a
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key to our ordinance, and so far I think it is working quite well
with us. :

Violent crime as far as firearms are concerned have diminished
somewhat since we enacted that ordinance. We have a more peace-
ful and quieter community as a result of that. The areas that I de-
scribed previously are much more peaceful than they were before
the gun ordinance. I think the message is out there. We will con-
tinue to do what is necessary to make sure that parents under-
stand the significance of their being involved, because there is a
penalty that they do have to pay, if they allow that youngster to
move into the community with a firearm and they did not give him
permission to do that.

So we are happy today to be here to express Chandler’s concerns,
and I hope that as a result of what we do here today, we will have
a more community awareness at the level where it will do the most
good, and that is in the trenches down at the local level, where
Mayor Miichell and I serve.

Thank you.

Senator DeEConciNt. Thank you, Mayor.

I take it the ordinance provides a penalty for the parent, if they
fail to give permission and know that the child has it, and then
there is a penalty for the child?

Mayor PayNE. There is a penalty for the parent of the child who
is caught with a weapon and he does not have the parent’s authori-
zation.

Slia?nator DeConciIni. And then is there a penalty for the child, as
well?

Mayor PavynNE. The penalty for the child is that the parent is
then going to have to enact some measures on that child, to make
sure that this does not happen.

Senator DeConcini. And confiscation of the weapon is one of the
penalties?

Mayor PAYNE. Yes.

Senator DECoNcinI. Have there been any imposition of the pen-
alties of the ordinance?

Mayor PaYyNE. We have not had to impose any penalties on any
parent yet. We are hoping that we do not have to. I think that
what has happened is what is expected to happen, is that parents
are saying, well, they have an ordinance, I do not want to be faced
with the consequences of that ordinance, so I am going to make
sure that Johnny does not have that weapon, I am not going to
give permission for him to have that weapon.

Senator DEConcini. You have witnessed less weapons?

Mayor PayNE. Less weapons, yes.

Senator DEConcini. There is no question about that?

Mayor PaYNE. No question about that.

Senator DeCoNcINI. Mayor, recently I introduced legislation for
the second time, which passed the Senate last year, that would pro-
hibit the manufacture and sale of some 14 semi-automatic assault
weapons. I have never said that this is a complete solution, and I
built in it a time period to see whether or not it works. Do you
have an opinion on whether or not the banning of assault weapons
would be advantageous tc your community?

T
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Mayor PAYNE. Senator, when I hear reports of an Uzi being used
in a neighborhood or an assault rifle or a weapon of some type
being used in a neighborhood, I have no doubt in my mind that
what you have done definitely is a curtailment as far as those
kinds of weapons, and that they should be curtailed, because those
weapons have no place in a community with small children or fam-
ilies, as Chandler prides itself as being a family oriented communi-
ty, and certainly we do not want those types of weapons. And we
will take the steps, along with you and any other agencies that
want to help curtail the use of those weapons or the bringing of
those weapons into our communities. They are detrimental. They
are violent. They will kill, and we do not want that happening on
our streets.

Senator DEConcINI. Thank you, Mayor.

Mary Rose Wilcox, you may please proceed.

STATEMENT OF MARY ROSE WILCOX

Ms. WiLcox. Thank you, Senator DeConcini.

I am glad to be here this morning, particularly with this panel
who have been in the trenches. I want to thank you for empaneling
us and many, many more people from the community to whom you
will listen today. I want to thank you for listening to our ideas and,
most importantly, for taking them back to Washington. I know
when you do that, we will see some action.

I would also like to digress just a minute and thank you for your
continued interest you have shown over the years in the fight
against drugs. This is one of the things I think that lies at the
bottom of some of the violent crime problems, and your leadership
and being in the forefront is well appreciated by our State.

I would like to speak today on five topics, and what I will try to
do, I am very familiar with this problem, as I rule the city council
and as Maricopa County Supervisor. I have worked with many
community groups, so I have tried to pick out five things that I
thought I could talk about and perhaps lead toward resolution.

First of all, the review of State and Federal legislation dealing
with firearms, you have stated that you have introduced again a
ban of assault rifles, and I totally support that. I feel that assault
rifles are only there to kill people, and they have no place. But I
feel a review of the State and Federal legislation dealing it will
help people come to grips with this problem that we have.

We know that there are certain factions in our society who be-
lieve that the right to bear arms should be a right over all, and we
have to come to grips with the fact that we are an urban society
and we must look at laws and how they can adjust to that urban
factor. I think it is very, very important, and when we see the
amount of drive-by killings, when we see the amount of innocent
bystanders who are being killed on the streets, we must do some-
thing to address all gun laws.

I do not want to sound like an extremist, but I truly believe that
all urban areas are coming to the same kind of conclusion, that if
we do not make it harder to purchase, harder to obtain weapons,
we are going to be in for a nightmare.
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The second issue is expansion of youth restitution program
aimed at at-risk youth who commit violent acts. Many, many
youth—and I think Judge Feldman addressed this—are going into
our systems and many of them are mocking it. They do not feel
that they will be punished for violent acts, that they can get back
on the street in a matter of days.

We must have certain punishment for violent acts, and we must
combine that with a heavy restitution program. They must be
made to pay in our society, whether it is assisting the victims’ fam-
ilies or whether it is assisting governmental entities carrying out
programs. But I believe that a strong restitution part of juvenile
justice is very much needed, and I will hopefully be working with
Judge Feldman on that issue.

The third is increased important preventive and educational pro-
grams aimed at youth and their families, with the aim of trending
them away from violence. Senator DeConcini, this is extremely im-
portant. We have a lot of good prevention programs out there and
education. You have named a few.

Genesis, midnight basketball leagues, dealing with recreational
outlets for youth—we have many, many programs which happened
over the last 2 decades. As you well know, we have been fairly
stripped of all funding for these programs that could stem the tide
of violence. I believe that is part of the problem. We offer our
youth no alternatives, except to go on the street, no jobs except to
go on the street and get involved in the drug trade, and many,
many of them, not all of them, but many of them turn to this.

I think the preventive and educational programs must be funded
and we must do it at the level that we will affect youth in our com-
munities from entering any crime life or any violent activities.

My fourth point, the implementation of a national full employ-
ment program: Many youth in our society are coming from families
that need assistance. In these economic times, there are two-parent
families working. Many, many families only have one parent that
are working, and youth need to assist.

Many of them are in the drug trade, because they do not have
any money coming into the household, and they want just the bare
necessities that our youth feel they need today. They see it on TV.
They want to purchase all of these walkmans and everything else
they need, and I really think the implementation of a national full
employment program dealing with summer youth and after-school
youth would be tremendously important.

When people go to work, especially youth, it helps them obtain
values for later in life. It helps them get discipline. It also helps
many, many families augment that income that they need, and it
keeps our kids busy. I am a strong believer that you keep kids
busy, you keep them out of trouble.

Fifth, I would like to ask you, Senator DeConcini, to join me, as
you did, in the Governmental Task Force for Games. When we
formed that 3 years ago, what we did was bring together all of the
law enforcement agencies and we attacked the enforcement ele-
ment of dealing with gangs, and it was very, very successful. When
you brought people together, we organized and we had meetings
afterwards where all of the governmental agencies involved, i.e.,
law enforcement from DPS at the State level, to the county sheriff
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to the cities, said this worked. What we are doing now is being able
to put our youth, those that are committing violent acts were able
to identify, target them and deal with it.

What we need now is the same kind of task force dealing with
intervention and prevention. Judge Feldman’s committee is going
to deal with what are the problems, what are some of the things
that can help. But we need to organize ourselves so that those pro-
grams are out there working. Those that are intervening and are
causing preventive-type programs to exist are known in our com-
munity. And I think we have to be very brutal in it. I think we
have to say this works, this does not, just organize our resources.

I know it is very easy to say let’s put more money into a system,
put maybe what we need to do is find out what is out there, who is
coordinating with each other, how can we coordinate better, and
how can we get rid of programs that are not working and use those
that are working, such as Genesis, such as intense recreation pro-
grams. County Attorney Romley has been of immense help in turn-
ing some of those RICO funds into programs that have helped.

We need this Task Force on Intervention and Prevention to orga-
nize in a more coordinated manner with nonprofits and govern-
mental entities as to what is working out there and what is not. So
I would ask you to join me in that.

In conclusion, Senator, I would only like to say we must remem-
ber that the goals of social prevention and intervention in im-
proved organizational programs and services within the community
need to be addressed. They work, and if we are to solve this prob-
lem and not lose our children, we must become the powerful force
needed to rescue our children through coordinating each other.

Thank you.

Senator DEConNcINI. Thank you, Ms. Wilcox.

The task force idea is very interesting. This task force would
‘make an assessment of what programs do work and have worked
and which ones ought to be prioritized for funding, is that correct?

Ms. WiLcox. That is correct.

Senator DECoNciNi. Nobody does that now?

Ms. Wiicox, It is being done, but not in a magnitude it should
be. I would like to do it in Maricopa County with your assistance
and pull together all jurisdictions from Tempe to Phoenix to Chan-
dler to nonprofits.

Senator DEConciNi. So there is no central collection now of even
what programs are there?

Ms. Wircox. There is not. We have an information referral
system, but it does not really analyze the program. Again, it is
going to be very hard to do, because you are stepping on a lot of
territory. But I think we have to be very brutal, if we are going to
help our children in assessing them.

Senator DEConciNI. I could not agree more, and I would welcome
an opportunity to work with you on that.

A prominent law enforcement officer in Tucson recently was
quoted as saying that assault weapons and other guns are so avail-
able in the Tucson metropolitan area, that it is almost as easy for a
youth to get a gun, including assault weapons, as it is ice cream. In
your experience in Maricopa County, having worked in the neigh-
borhoods and the city council, do you think it is that easy, as well?
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Ms. WiLcox. Senator, I do. I have seen many, many youth who
are being stopped by gang squads that we have during the summer-
time, you open up their trunks and you see assault rifles. How did
they get them? It is ridiculously easy to obtain them. We have
many, many people involved with that trade who will go ahead and
trade these for a low amount of money to our youth, and the
amount of gunshots you hear in our community at night, you can
have neighbors testify throughout this hearing that those gunshots
areh not just a one-caliber single gun. They are assault rifles
with——

Senator DeCoNcINI. Semi-automatic?

Ms. WiLcox. Yes, they are. In riding with the gang squads
throughout my tenure as a city council person, I saw so many
young adults and youth with assault rifles, that yor have to ques-
tior}l why are these available and how are they obt ining them so
easily.

Senator DeConciNi. Having ridden with those assault gang
teams myself, you hear those guns going off and, by the time you
get there, nobody is there, or at least not the people who are perpe-
trating it.

Thank you, Ms. Wilcox, very much for your testimony.

Ms. Wircox. Thank you very much.

Senator DECoNciNI. Mr. Romley?

I just want the Mayor to know I am saving the best for last.
[Laughter.]

STATEMENT OF RICHARD M. ROMLEY

Mr. RoMLEY. Good morning, Senator. Thank you for this opportu-
nity to speak with you today, as Maricopa County Attorney, on my
views regarding the increased violence that we are seeing by the
juveniles of Maricopa County.

With your permission, I have some written oral comments that I
have incorporated with my written comments, as well, and I am
going to disregard those, because having heard the comments here,
I think it would be perhaps a bit more productive to give you a per-
ception and a viewpoint perhaps a little bit more full-bodied.

Senator DEConNciNt. We will be glad, Mr. Romley, to include your
written statement in the record.

Mr. Romrey. Thank you.

As Maricopa County Attorney, I have had an opportunity to view
the juvenile justice system for a very long period of time. Without
a doubt, you should be commended for bringing together this com-
mittee to look at this particular problem, because it is an epidemic
that is facing all of us.

In 1992, we had 1,425 arrests of juveniles for violent crimes in
Maricopa County. In Maricopa, that very same year, we had a vio-
lent crime occur every 6 hours and 9 minutes or every 12 days and
14 hours a murder is committed by a juvenile. This statistic alone
represents an increase in juvenile homicide since 1987 of 314 per-
cent.

The issue you are trying to breach today is very difficult and it is
not simplistic, and I would like to offer a viewpoint that perhaps
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addresses both the short-term and the long-term resolution to some
of these issues.

From the short-term perspective, I think that all of us, as elected
officials, must recognize that we have a primary concern of protect-
ing the public. The public safety is a paramount issue. To that, we
must get a grasp and make a decision on what do we do with cer-
tain juveniles that could be in the juvenile justice system and con-
tinually come in and out of the juvenile justice system, as Justice
Feldman said. He is absolutely correct, they view it as a revolving
door and they believe, as Mary Rose said, that there is absolutely
no sanctions at all. The violence, that tends to promote violence in
and of itself, because they believe that there is absolutely no sanc-
tion there.

To that, I think the best way to approach this is perhaps a three-
pronged approach to the juvenile justice system. As I indicated, the
very first prong is to decide what to do with those individuals that
are violent and are continually committing a tremendous amount
of crime.

The juvenile justice system, the philosophy behind it is rehabili-
tation, that we must not give up on our youth, that we must look
to them as our future, and with that I agree 100 percent. And I am
not willing to give up on our children easily, nor take it lightly.

However, I am not so idealistic as to believe that all juveniles
belong in the juvenile justice system. We cannot make a blanket
statement that all of them should be in there, for what happens at
that point in time is if you continually keep the violent repetitive
offenders in there, we spend our limited dollars on those individ-
uals because of the protection of the community and so forth, thus
not getting to the full cause of the issue,

Therefore, I believe that we need to take a different look at the
juvenile and violent offenders and move them into the adult court
system. I have seen that work. Perhaps one of the most meaningful
points that can be made is that all too often when a juvenile is
transferred into the adult court system, they are hit very strongly,
iaying why. All of a sudden there is a meaningful accountability

ere.

What perhaps is misguided and not understood is that the adult
court system also has a tremendous amount of resources that can
handle these individuals and yet protect the public, as well. Mari-
copa County was recognized in Florida for perhaps being a national
model in intermediate sanctions. We have more and more pro-
grams in Maricopa County that address many of these different
issues. Yet, if they are violent, we can take them and put them
within a system that will protect the public. That must be our
number one priority.

Second, once we have perhaps, as you might call it, plans for the
juvenile justice system, you have created a system of juveniles that
is the most amenable for rehabilitation. Then we must look at how
do we perform our job in the juvenile justice system and rehabili-
tate.

I believe that at this point in time we spend our money inappro-
priately. We will never have enough dollars to be able to handle
the system as all of us would like it to be handled. I think we need
to spend it more wisely. By way of example, we tend to spend our
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money, as I indicated earlier, at the back end of the system with
those individuals that commit continual crimes or very violent in
the prison setting and so forth. I believe that we need to create a
philosophical shift, that we make a commitment to the front-end
processing.

The sooner we can have an impact upon those juveniles, the
greater the likelihood that we are going to have a meaningful
impact, and I would like to point out—and this is in my written
materials—that a recent study was performed by Howard Snyder,
with the National Center for Juvenile Justice, in 1988, and if I
could just read the implications of his findings.

He concludes:

The volume of youth who enter a court restricts both the quantity and quality of
attention that can be given. It is, therefore, essentiai that a court’s limited resources

be efficiently expended in that youth who need the discipline and/or the guidance
the court can deliver be identified as quickly as possible.

Most importantly, the finding that he used referred to:

A court a second time before the age of 16 could with a high degree of certainty
be considered a chronic offender implies that the court should not wait until the
youth has returned for the fourth or fifth time before taking strong actions. Most of
these youths will cycle through the courts with dispositional alternatives, consum-
ing more and more resources. Greater expenditures in a career should concern a
youth’s law violating career, should reduce future workloads and should provide
greater protection to the community.

Basically, in conclusion, what he is saying there is that money
should be spent at the very front-end of the process. I am not
saying that we shouldn’t do it at the back-end, but the philosophy
should be at the very front-end intervention, and I support most of
the comments that were stated here. I believe that you need to in-
volve the family, increase the court’s ability to have family coun-
seling for those types of individuals.

Quite honestly, as I testified at the Arizona legislature, by the
time they reach the juvenile justice system, you are on the down-
ward slope. Actually, you need to be putting more resources, as
Mary Rose has indicated, even before they come into the juvenile
justice system, and I strongly support that.

Third, and I think this is going to be perhaps one of the more
difficult areas in the prong, once we have a good system to work
within, we have a philosophy to do more at the front end, I believe
that the third is to look at programs that currently exist within the
juvenile justice system and the treatment of rehabilitation.

Maricopa County, as of this date, has never had a program per-
formance audit done on any of the treatment programs, and literal-
ly millions and millions of dollars are expended every single year.
We do not know what works, how well it works and where we
should be spending our limited dollars.

This could be very important on your part, Senator, in that per-
haps some guidance from the Federal level. The question is always
asked where is there a model, what programs work, and those
types of things. If future funding comes our way, which I believe
that you will perhaps help carry out through Congress, I would ask
that you put in there a criteria for evaluations of those particular
programs.
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We are going to be going through that in Arizona. The courts
have recognized that that is perhaps a shortcoming at this point in
time. But we must spend our dollars more wisely and determine
which programs work, which programs must work, and we must
have the political strength to be able to say, no, you have not met
the criteria, and get rid of those and begin spending our dollars
more wisely.

That concludes my comments as to how I believe the juvenile jus-
tice system need this basic reform. I cannot overemphasize that
right now we must do something on a short-term solution to ad-
dress the immediate violence that we are seeing. I know that it is a
very difficult and controversial issue that is facing all of us, but the
community should expect no less.

Quite honestly, I am just fed up with the violence and I think
that the community is fed up with it. We must take a strong stand
and say that this will not be tolerated, and I hope that with your
committee meeting here today, that statement will go out very
strong.

[Mr. Romley submitted the following:]
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Prepared Statement of Richard M. Romley

Thank you very much for giving me the opportunity as
Maricopa County Attorney to present my views regarding the
increasing incidence of wviolent juvenile crime plaguing our
community and the inadequacies of the Juvenile Justice System to
deal with this situation.

Recently our community has been subjected to an explosion of
violent crime. In large part these violent offenses are
committed by juveniles who often times without remorse maim and
kill. Sociologists and psychologists no doubt can provide us
with numerous reasons explaining the root causes of criminal
activity. While we all recognize that in many cases poverty, the
disintegration of the family structure, the substitution of gang
relationships for family relationships, dependency on drugs, and
child abuse all contribute to the high incidence of juvenile
crime. We also must realize that solutions to these problems
while absolutely necessary are long térm in nature. The reality
is that we all face an immediate crisis which demands an
immediate solution. Juvenile crime is epidemic. With increasing
frequency, more of us have become victims of drive-by shootings,
street gang wars, senseless killings and just plain terror by
teenagers who have become hardened criminals. The right to feel
safe in our homes, our work place and our streets is under

attack.

This trend is not unique to Arizona. The national nature of
this problem is underscored by the fact that the United States
Senate is now holding these very hearings. As the chief
prosecutor of the largest metropolitan district in Arizona, I
welcome and applaud the efforts of your subcommittee to assist in
finding solutions to this problem.

We in Maricopa County have been subjected taian explosion of

juvenile crime. Drive-by and retribution killings are becoming
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more and more frequent. National and International attention has
been focused on Arizona as a result of the horrible execution
style killing of nine individuals including 6 Buddhist monks at
the Buddhist Temple. These murders, according to one of the
seventeen year old killers were carried out cold bloodedly so as
to remove "all witnesses" to an attempted robbery. The Buddhist
Temple murders while arousing International outrage, has merely
highlighted an ever increasing wave of lawlessness by weapon
wielding juveniles. This trend must be stopped and it will be.
New strategies by law enforcement, government and the community
are called for. Arizona is fed up; I'm fed up. As Maricopa
County Attorney I intend <. work with the community, other law
enforcement officials, the legislature, and the courts to fashion
solutions to this explosion of violent crime.

Unfortunately, at the same time that violent juvenile crime
is increasing our juvenile justice system is failing. We are
neither providing appropriate opportunities for rehabilitation
and education to those juveniles who would benefit nor are we
adequately protecting the public from those repetitive offender
juveniles, who by the age of 16 or 17 years old, have evidenced
such anti-social behavior that they pose a threat to us all. We
must  recognize that all juvenile offenders are not the same.
There is a significant difference between the 14 year old who
steals a car in order to take a joy xride or joins his peers in
relatively minor criminal activity and the reéepetitive offender
who has had the benefit of all that the Juvenile Justice System
can offgr and nevertheless continues a life of crime culminating
in violent activity. In 1992 there were 1,425 arrests of
juveniles for violent crime in Maricopa County. That same year,
a violent crime committed by a juvenile occurred every six hours
nine minutes. Every 12 days, 14 hours a murder is committed b& a
juvenile. This statistic alone represents an increase of

juvenile homicides since 1987 of 314 percent.
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of us to provide rehabilitative programs and education so as to
assist juvenile offenders. It is clear however, that with regard
Some say that all that is needed is more resources and more

programs. I disagree; money alone is not the answer. My

observations of the Juvenile Justice System over many years as a
prosecutor, and now as a County Attorney, have led me to conclude
that, although a laudable goasl, the principle claim of the
Juvenile Justice System

- - - that, given enough resources (money) and enough

time, they can "cure" (rehabilitate) anyone, or at

least almost anyone,
is neither realistic nor achievable. This attitude causes the
Juvenile Justice System to always try program aftexr program and,
despite the expenditure of slightly over 8.7 million @ollars for
treatment in Maricopa County, the Juvenile Court asks for a blank
checkbook to create more programs rather than facing up to the
real issue. They should decide who truly belongs in the system.

What is needed is a good dose of reality. The reality is
that our limited@ resources are being misspent and misplaced.
Instead of concentrating our efforts on helping those juveniles
who can benefit from our help, we concentrate an inordinate
amount of resources on hardened juvenile criminals who use the
system as a revolving door, going in and out over and over again.
What is needed is a commitment to place the limited resources
availeble at the front end of the system when the first time
offender can be most helped. To continue +to dissipate the
resources available on repetitive offenders who at the age of 16
and 17 years old commit adult crimes again and again is futile.

I have suggested that it is time to recognize that crimes
committed by 16 and 17 year old juveniles who have had numerous
contacts with the juvenile justice system and who use deadly
weapons causing horrible results should not be continued within
the juvenile justice system but should be transferred to adult
court and treated and punished as adults. This community

deserves this protection.
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As Maricopa County Attorney my primary focus must be on

protection of ths public. I also recognize the obligation of all

to those juvenile offenders who present a danger to the
community, we must confront the issues of how best to protect the
public. It must be recognized that we have an obligation not
only to protect ourselves, but also to protect those placed in
our care. There can be no higher priority then that of
government protecting its citizens.

Recognizing that law enforcement does not have all the
answers, it is imperative that the government and the citizenry
at large participate along with law enforcement in this effort to
find solutions to this serious problem. Without such solutions
our guality of life willbbe compromised and we will be failing
not only ourselves but our children.

Thank you again for affording me this opportunity to appear.

I would be happy to answer any questions at this time.




26

WRITTEN STATEMENT OF RICHARD M. ROMLEY

The rise in violence in Maricopa County is well documented (see

Appendix A).

following based on the National Crime Report Criteria:

1.

arrests for juveniles (persons under the age
of eighteen) committing wviolent crimes in
Maricopa County rose from 704 in 1982 to
1,425 in 1992,

by the end of 1992, Juvenile Violent Crime in
Maricopa County had increased more than 74%
since 1988,

juvenile Violent Crime had increased eight
times faster than the growth in the county's
population during this period of time, and

the impact to my office during this period is
that the total juvenile offenses submitted to
review for filing had risen 30%.

To highlight some of these statistics, I submit the

Aggravating the issue of violence- is the. increased presence of

gangs in

Maricopa County. Last year in Phoenix alone, gang

related violent incidents increased from 881 in 1991 to 918 in

1992 (see Appendix B).

The Arizona Department of Public Safety

estimates that there are approximately 783 gangs statewide with

about 9,0

00 members. Of these, the Maricopa County metropolitan

area alone has 449 gangs with at least 50% of the documented

members and at least 40% of those being juveniles.

Phoenix,

Just in

it has been estimated that there are approximately 130

gangs with a documented membership of over 3,000 as compared to

an estimate of 35 gangs with a membership of approximately 500 in

the late 1970's.

Using the Maricopa County Juvenile Court's statistics and their

criteria

extensive

following

or definition of violent offenses, which

is more

than the National Crime Report, (see Appendix C), the

observations during the last six years

indicative of an epidemic of juvenile violence:

are also
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1. the number of juvenile referrals to Maricopa
County Juvenile Court rose from 24,767 in
1987 to 27,624 in 1992,

2. the number of violent referrals committed by
juveniles increased from 881 in 1987 to 1,895
in 1992,

3. despite a significant drop in the number of

referrals to the Maricopa County Juvenile
Court, the last two years (there were 29,031
referrals in 1990 which dropped to 28,438
referrals in 1991 and again dropped to 27,624
referrals) there has been a steady increase
in the number of violent referrals until 1991
when a minor decrease (38 referrals) occurred
in 1992, Yet, despite the decrease, the
percentage of violent referrals to total
referrals has steadily increased including
the years of 1991 and 1992 when this minor
drop occurred, and

4. although statistics are not maintained for
the number of violent petitions for
delingquency actually filed, a conservative
estimate would be that if 50% of the violent
referrals were filed, it would only result in
23% of violent juvenile offenders in Maricopa
County being transferred to the adult
criminal justice system in 1992 despite the
fact that +this was the highest number
transferred since 1987.
Against this backdrop as well as my observations of the Juvenile
Justice System over many years as a prosecutor, and now as a
county Attorney, have led me to conclude that, although a
laudable goal, the principle claim of the Juvenile Justice System
- - -~ that, given enough resources (money) and enough
time, they can "cure'" (rehabilitate) anyone, or at
least almost anyone,
is neither realistic nor achievable. This attitude causes the
Juvenile Justice System to always try program after program and,
despite the expenditure of slightly over 8.7 million dollars for
treatment in Maricopa County, the Juvenile Court asks for a blank
checkbook to create more programs rather than facing up to the

real issue. They should decide who truly belongs in the system.

It is dimportant to note that the 1972 Wolfgang study which
concluded that juveniles with five or nore police contacts are
chronic offenders and most likely to recidivate was refuted by
Howard Snyder from the National Center for Juvenile Justice in

1988. He states that the implication of his findings is that,

74-122 0 - 94 ~ 2
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"First, the recidivism probabilities of many youth who
come before the juvenile court for only the second time
are very high - at the chronic offender level. If a
court knows that it is likely to handle a youth again
and again, the court should not delay in providing
interventions and imposing sanctions. Dispositions in
many court systems progress in severity and cost in
small steps. However, if a court adopts the position
early in a career that a youth is likely to continue
the law-violating behavior and to consume much more
court time and resources, the progression of court's
responses could be accelerated."

and concludes that,
"The volume of youth who enter a court restricts both
the quantity and guality of attention that can be
given. It is, therefore, essential that a court's
limited resources be efficiently expended in that youth
who need the discipline and/or the guidance the court
can deliver be identified as quickly as possible.

. . . Most importantly, the finding that a youth
referred to court for a second time before the age of
sixteen could, with a high degree of certainty, be
considered a chronic offender implies that the courts
should not wait until the youth has returned for the
fourth or fifth time before taking stidng action. Most

of these youth will cycle through the court's
dispositional alternatives, consuming more and more
resources. Greater expenditures earlier in a career
should shorten a youth's law-viclating career, should
reduce future court workloads, and should provide
greater protection to the community."
Despite this research and a wealth of literature to the contrary,
experience has shown that the Maricopa County Juvenile Court and
the Department of Youth Treatment and Rehabilitation continue to
expend the vast majority of their limited resources on the older
juveniles who are either the most ‘chronic or the most violent.
These are the juveniles who are least likely to be amenable to

treatment.

This has caused the public to lose confidence with the system and
victims do not feel protected. Like the juveniles themselves,
they feel the system is a joke and, given the recent rise in
violence being committed by Jjuveniles, the taxpayers are

outraged.

It is common knowledge that serious juvenile offenders quickly

learn to manipulate the system and commit offense after offense.
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When the patience of the judge runs out and a <transfer is
ordered, the juvenile is shocked to find out that something
Ysignificant"” will finally happen to hinm. Further, unlimited
treatment opportunities fail to provide any incentive for a

juvenile to modify his behavior.

As the chief law enforcement officer of Maricopa County, I am
fully aware of the prosecutor's responsibility and duty to
provide for the public safety and firmly believe that the long
term interest of public safety is better served through the
treatment and rehabilitation of Jjuveniles. Simply stated, if

successful, we eliminate adult crime.

Also critical to Jjuvenile Jjustice reform 4is the continued
funding of the Department of Youth Treatment and Rehabilitation.
As Johpson_v. Upchurch has correctly pointed out, Arizona's youth
corrections system was a system in neglect that offers, even
today, little if any rehabilitative services. It is only the
possibility that future criminal conduct might be eliminated
through treatment and rehabilitation in the juvenile justice

system that justifies putting the public at risk.

It is for these reasons that, I would like to enphasize that I
support the underlying philosophy of the Juvenile Justice System

as well as the necessity for the treatment and rehabilitation of

juvenile offenders. However, limiting the number of the "bites

of the apple" before criminal sanctions are imposed is not
logically inconsistent with that philosophy. Establishing some
finite number of times that the system allows a particular
juvenile to commit a felony is paramount in providing for public
safety. Certainly, there should be no tolerance when the
juvenile uses a gun or commits a violent act against another
person. Public safety demands that we must limit that risk to
only those juveniles who are most amenable to the services of the

juvenile justice system!
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Because we are not dealing with an exact science but with human
behavior, you will not find a juvenile justice professional who
will tell you that they can predict whether any particular
juvenile delingquent will recidivate. At best, they can only tell

you who is potentially "at risk" to commit additional crimes.

Not only can they not predict future criminal behavior, their
ability to diagnose the appropriate treatment to prevent further
criminal condﬁct in either a medical or behavioral modality model
is basically still in the "stone age." It is merely & matter of
experimentation until something either works or the juvenile has
turned eighteen and is no longer in the system. Yet the attitude
prevails that every juvenile is entitled to try everything before

he suffers criminal consequences for his criminal conduct.

compounding this weakness is the fact that whether it is services
being delivered by the Juvenile Court or the Department, no one
knows what works on what kind of delinquent kids. Despite the
expenditure of millions of dollars, outcome analysis has not been
required to empirically demonstrate <that any type, treatment

works.

Effective evaluations of programs 1is not only necessary to
justify their significant expenditures of public monies but to
also validate the very premise of the juvenile justice system

—~—-that treatment and rehabilitation can stop criminal behavior.

If this cannot be demonstrated, the entire system should fall.

In hard economic times, and even in good, taxpayers do pot
deserve this irresponsible use of their tax dollars. The system
must spend the 1limited taxpayer dollars more wisely by being
honest and admitting that due to this uncertainty in diagnosis,
the only true barometer to tell whether a Jjuvenile is either
amenable to treatment or willing to accept treatment is that

juvenile's own conduct.

{4
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However well intended it may be to try to continue to find "the
cure," the public does not deserve to be continually placed at
risk. Simply stated, how many felonies should a citizen be
subjected to by a particular juvenile. We must also send a
message to violent juvenile offenders who, at least by the age of
sixteen, can easily comprehend that their conduct is not
acceptable and will not be tolerated in a civilized society.

Sound public policy demands that, after reasonable efforts to

rehabilitate have been made, the conclusion be reached that the

Jjuvenile has forfeited his right to receive the services and
benefits of the juvenile system. He should be transferred and

suffer the consequences of adult criminal sanctions.

Therefore, the Juvenile Court and the Department of Youth
Treatment and Rehabilitation must make a philosophical shift to
"front end spending." This would restore public confidence in
the Juvenile Justice System by allowing them to only expend their
limited resources on those juveniles who they can truly affect.
Additionally, this would provide 3juveniles a very strong
incentive to participate in their recovery and modify their
behavior.

However, rather than honestly admitting that the system keeps the
wrong kids and keeps them too leng, the system chooses to cloak
these inherent weaknesses in ‘¢che system and their decisions with
confidentiality and c¢laim that ‘what is needed is not
accountability but another level of bureaucracy, a youthful
offender program. Not only-does this philosophically send the
wrong message to the juvenile offender that, once again, they
will not be held accountable for their criminal conduct, it also
creates another "money pit® by creating a system that has already

proven to be a failure, the California Youth Authority.

It also ignores the reality that there rarely, if ever; is a

difference in maturity between an eighteen year old and a person
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seventeen years, eleven months, thirty days, and twenty-three
hours old. Yet, for convenience, one arbitrary hour can result
in significant consequence in terms of criminal sanctions. If
one hour results in inappropriate disparity, what about one day,
one week, three months, one year, etc?

Clearly, the same rationale applies equally to the upper end of
the proposed spectrum. Why arbitrarily pick the age of twenty-
one? What about the person who is twenty years and one hour old?

The same analysis applies.

Not only does the arbitrary age incorrectly assume that three
years will give sufficient. time for treatment to cure all cases
which f£all "within the current evil" created by the present
system, it again ignores the need for flexibility to provide age
appropriate treatment and sanctions regardless of an arbitrary
and fixed age. This can be done more efficiently in the adult
system. In fact, the adult system is not devoid of treatment
programs. Arizona is probably the leader in the United States in
terms of intermediate sanctions. Not only does probation exist,
there is intensive probation, day reporting, day fines, and an
array of sanctions through the community punishment act. It is
also interesting to note that the current Juvenile Justice'system
does not have sufficient age appropriate treatment and

rehabilitation programs for people of this age category.

In conclusion, I hope that this presentation begins the dialogue
to provide meaningful reform throughout the Juvenile Justice
System that will stem the wave of violence and crime by

juveniles.
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APPENDIX A

Juvenile Data

Maricopa County

Arrests Under 18

Offens

Homicide *

Forcible rape * 14 45
Robbery * 205 371
|Aggravated Assault * 476 980
Burglary - 2,217 1,978
Larceny-theft 5,980 8,295
Vehicular theft 296 1,252
Arson 87 58

Index Crimiss 9,08 008
Other Crimes 9,83 ,283
Total All Classes 19,123 27,291
% Change in Index Crimes ‘Base 18.6%
1 Population Under 18 629,830
- Population 5-17 431,394




Juvenile Data

Maricopa County

Arrests Under 18

[Homicide * 7 7 10
|Forcible rape * 34 32 26
|Robbery * 128 12 153
Aggravated Assault ¢ 40¢€ 44 494
Burglary 1,957 1,7 1,883
|Larceny-thaft 8.9 6,8 7,067
{Vehicular theft 417 4 4

Al.on B. 3

.

L 14,528, 14,09 13,303 13,694,

Total All Classes 24,500 23,77 23,434 24,054 29,098 29,52 27.2¢
% Change in Index Crimes -2.9% 4.6% 2.3% 16.5% 1.7% -10.3!
Population Under 18 |_532,876] 558,022] 581,750[ 605.939] 641,111] 610,243] 629,85
Population 5-17 | 359,581 376,102] 391,548] 409,206] 437,449 414,926] 431.3¢
This mauix includas the number of Nagl ! cosag in Hi I




Gang Related Violent Incidents continue to rise.
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* Statistics provided by the Phoenix Police Department's Gang Unit.
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APPENDIX C

320,000
300,000
280,000
260,000

240,000

Maricopa County
Juvenile Population
Ages 8 to 17

220,000 +®

1987

1988 1989 1990 1991

3o,ooow
28,000

26,000+

Juvenile Court Referrals

1988 1889 1990




woeuwpO

D ~oe=JFra®n

20,000 ~
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Violent Crime as defined by the Unifonm Crime Report consists of Murder, Rape, Robbery & Aggravied Assaut.

Juvenile Violent Crime case submittals have increased more than 74%.

38




Juvenile Violent Crime has increased eight times faster than the
County's population.

Population Juvenile Violent Crime

1988 - 1992
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Number of Violent Referrals
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MARICOPA COUNTY JUVENILE COURT CENTER

DEFINITION OF SEVERITY TYPOLOGY

VIOLENT OFFENSES

Homicide

Negligent Homicide
Murder 1

Murder 2

Manslaughter

Attempted Murder

Kidnap for Sex
Custodial Interference
Kidnap =(kidnap + kidnap ranson + unlaw. imprison)
Sex with Minor

Sexual Assault

Sodomy with Minor
Robbery General

Purse - snatch Forcible
Strongarm Robbery
Armed Robbery
Aggravated Robbery
Endangerment

Assault with Deadly Weapon
Aggravated Assault
Arson Occupied

Cchild Molesting

Sexual Abuse

Child Abuse

Set Explosives

Hit and Run
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MARICOPA COUNTY JUVENILE CRIME CLOCK
Calendar Year 1982 Calendax: Year 1992
One
it MURDER
Catlendar Year 1982 overy 40 days 13 hours
One One §
vioLenT criMENIIIIIM] ForcieLe rare [THIHNHERS)
| overy 12 hes. 27 mins, ovary 26 days 2 bours
] One i
iy roeesry |y
Calendar Year 1882 avery § day 19 hours
One Calendar Year 1832 One
INDEX CRIME [IiEGrAvATED ASSAUEEIT
overy 56 minutes 37 saconds avery 16 hours 24 minutes.
One
|m|]| BURGLARY
Calendar Year 1982 3 hours 57 minules
Calendar Year 1952 One One
PROPERTY CRIM [lf tarceNy-THEFT JIIHTHIT
I svery 1 hour tmin, avery 1 how 28 minudes
| The crime dlock shotdd bo viewsd with care, Baing the mort agpregals npr-nnl.nson
of data, Is designad o convey he ennua kaventie aTest experiencs ing
relatve Irequancy of coourrence of he Index Offansss, This mode of dispiay smuia
not b taken to imply a regulanly in he commission of the Par | Ofenses; rather, i
reprosents ha annual rafo of crime lo fixed ¥ms iniervals,
EEETN I S AR

a Xianaddv

gy




U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinguency Prevention

renile Justice Bulletin

44

APPENDIX E

Verne L. Speirs, Administrator

OJJDP Update
on Research

August 1988

Study Sheds New Light on Court Careers
of Juvenile Offenders

A youth's second court appearance may
be an early waming sign of future delin-
quency, according 10 3 new study on the
couft careers of juvenile offerders. This
finding is imponant because many
e~nrts cummently concentrate their

‘gies and limited resources on youth
wno have appeared in court five or six
times and have been Jabeled chronic
offenders. However, the study's
findings indicate that although the
wmajority of youth (59 percent) went o
juvenile court. only onee, juveniles who
are referred 10 coun for a second time
before age 16 are very likely 10 continue
their delitquent behavior.

The swudy, Court Careers of Juvenile
Offenders, was conducted for the Office
of Juvenile Justice and Delinqueney
Prevention (QJJDP) by Howard Sayder
of the National Center for Juvenile
Justice, It analyzed the court carcers of
£9.504 youth bom between 1962 and
1965 who were processed by the
juvenile courts in Maricopa County
(Phoenix), Arizona, and in the State of
Utah: It examines the characteristics of
a juvenile offender from the count's
perspective and describes the type and
prevalence of offt itted by
youth,

°~ ~ findings from this study can help
“itioness and policymukers working

* In this swdy, violent offenses included
criminal homicide, forcible rape, robbery,
2nd aeeravated assaclt,

in the juvenile justice system to devise
new intervention programs and
strategies.

According 1o the research:

® Only 5 percent of the youth referred
1o juvenile court were ever chorged with
a violent offense,* and less than 1
percent had more than one violent
offense referral in their coun career,

® Youth most likely to have a second
referral to court were those originally
charged with burglary, truancy, motor
vehicle theft, or robbery.

® Youth least likely to commit a
second offense were originally charged
with underage drinking, running away,
or shoplifting,

o Those referred for a violent offense

had been or are likely to be charged with
a wide range of delinquent behaviors.

From the Administrator:

We know from past research that a
relatively small number of youths
are responsible for a large portion
of the offenses committed by juve.
niles. A logical next siep, then, is to
ask what couns can d6 to intervenc
curly on to deter these youth from
committing further serious delin-
quent acts.

To help answer this question, the
Office of Juvenile Justice and De-
linquency Prevention (OJJDP)
funded a research study to examine
the delinguent careers of chronic
juvenile offenders from the coun’s
perspective,

The findings from this project have
important implications for the
Jjuvenile justice system, including
courts, probation, corrections, and

other professionals in the field. How-
ever, because of busy schedules and a
lack of 1ime to read indepth reports,
research results such as these often
don’t make it into the hands of
policymakers and practitioners, To
hetp remedy this, we produced this
OJIDP Research Update, which
briefly summarizes—in an easy-to-
read larmut—findings about the court
cureers of juvenile offenders,

The findings from this study can be
especially helpful to juvenile justice
decisionmakers in developing policy.
We belicve they can help jurisdic.
tions across the Nation develop pro-
grams to respond more effectively 10
serious juvenile offenders.

Verne L. Speirs
Administrator
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Juveniles and court
careers

More than half of alf youth {S§ percent)
first appeared in coun ficfore age 16,
The-statistics show that boys were more
likeiy 10 recidivate than girls: 46 percent
of all males had more than one count
referral compared to only 29 percent of
the females.

Eighty-one percent of all youth referred
to court were referred ot least once fora

y Although yeuth who committe:

45

Violent offenses and

juveniles

The $ounger a juvenile was on entering
the coun system, the geeater the likeli-
hood that the youth would laler be
veferred for a violent offense. For
example, a youth whose first court
referral was at age 13 was twice as
likely as a youth first referred ar age 16
io huve a violent offense referral.

of all

£

delinquent offense. i.c. a 1 law
violation, The remaining youth were
charged only with status offenses—acts
that are offenses only if commitied by a
juvenile, such as running away, truancy,
or underage drinking.

Whether a youth commits another erime
was also related to the type of offense
that resulted in the youth's first count
referral. Those most likely to recidivate
were first referred for burglary, truancy.
motor vehicle theft. or robbery,

Juvenile offenders (5 percent), these ju-

were the feast

veniles were the most likely to retum to

ourn charged with 2 violént offense.
This pattem was found among both
and girls.

Youth most lik:ly lo commit a subse- °
quent violent offense were first refemed
10 court for robbery; more than half of
these youth recidivated. and one-gighth
were later referred to juvenile court for
another violent offense. The second
aroup of youth most likely to be referred

those whose fiest referml was for
aggravated assault or burglary, Juve.
niles who were [irst refemed for undes
age drinking. truancy, drug faw viola-
tions, or shoplifting were fesr likely 10
commit a subsequent violent offense.

This study found linle evidence for spe-
cialization. when a youth is referred
again and again for the same type of
offense. Most youth tended to be
involved in 4 wide range of offense
types.

Who are chronic
offenders?

Chronic juvenile offenders are youth
who are most likely to continue their
law-violating behavior. Ithasbeen the
juvenile justice system’s goal to identify
chronic offenders as early in their court
careers as possible and design ¢ffective
intervention strategies. Most youth
never retum 10 juvenile coun after thir

l for a subsequent violent offense were
Table 1
Percentage of youth who returned to juvenile court—breakdown by age ot referral and
the current number of referrals in the juvenile's court career
Age at Number of referrals All
referral 1 2 3 4 5 [ 7 8 9 referrals
. 10 61% 84% 96% 91%  99% 96% 93% 94% 95% N%
tl 60 85 91 92 98 99 99 96 100 72
12 59 83 89 97 98 95 98 96 98 y
13 57 82 90 93 95 97 96 98 98 73
14 53 77 86 9 92 94 96 95 95 70
15 45 69 80 84 89 89 91 93 92 66
16 33 55 68 3 77 8t 82 83 86 54
17 16 7 36 41 45 48 50 53 5t 30
Ages 10 41 59 67 T 74 k) 7 9 7 56
through 17
Nute: To interpret the values in this toble it may help to provide a fow examples: Sevenly-seven pereent of all youth whose
sccond referral to cour oceurred at apge 14 were referred again, Fifty-nine percent of all youth with two refermals had 3 sub-
sequent referral 1o juvenil coun.*Seventy percent of ull youth referred at age 14 ware referred later for a pew o